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the debris with heavy wheelbarrows. They
also learned to map, record and photo-
graph the site as well. 

The Falls Creek project drew national
attention with Flora’s discovery of mum-
mies. The most famous was called
“Esther.” Flora invited Earl Morris, a pio-
neer southwest archaeologist, to lead the
remaining excavation at Falls Creek. He
guided Flora, Daniels and the NYA crew
in recovering wood samples from the site
for tree-ring analysis, a new dating tech-
nique. The wood samples determined
dates of Basketmaker occupation in
Southwest Colorado that were much ear-
lier than originally thought.

In the winter, NYA workers cataloged
and sketched artifacts in the museum
room at the library. They washed and
repaired items for display, arranged and
cleaned museum cases, dusted books, and
built additional chairs, shelves and cases.

At the end of the project, they planned to
establish an archaeological park featuring
reconstructed dwellings.

A wide variety of museums and colleges,
including the Museum of Natural History
and the Peabody Museum at Harvard
University, contacted Daniels regarding the
NYA library project. Standing-room-only
lectures were held in the library’s museum
room and at area schools. 

At a time when youth employment
was virtually non-existent, the library and
Falls Creek projects gave dozens of La
Plata County youth valuable experience
and confidence in their ability to work
with others. Whether or not any went on
to be playwrights or archaeologists, what
they learned in those years undoubtedly
served them well in the professions they
pursued.  ◆

Bobbie Hamilton, the Animas Museum
administrative assistant, is a transplant from
Alaska, and especially enjoys Southwest
Colorado’s abundant sunshine.

Archaeologists Earl H.
Morris (right) and Robert
Burgh (making notes)
supervise Frank Lee (in
the hole) and other mem-
bers of the NYA crew at
Talus Village in the Falls
Creek archaeological area
in 1940. Zeke Flora is at
top left.

PPrroojjeeccttss
kk continued from page 15

Courtesy FLC Center of Southwest Studies

and durable, went skyward without a
hitch, moved by enthusiastic and careful
volunteers and experienced museum stud-
ies students from Fort Lewis College.
Center of Southwest Studies curator and
conservator Jeanne Brako donated her
time and skills supervising the students
and overseeing the handling of fragile
artifacts. This winter while the museum
was closed to the public on Mondays,
lighter-weight collections were hand-car-
ried up three flights of stairs.

What remains? Historic quilts folded
in boxes wait for the purchase of acid-free
tubes to be placed on custom rolled-tex-
tile racks. Historic Navajo and Hispanic
weavings bundled in bags await the pur-
chase of insect-resistant rolled-textile cabi-
nets. Volunteers are needed to process
archives containing historic photographs,
maps, albums, scrapbooks, documents
and community records. Household and

personal artifacts need to be boxed.
Musical instruments need to be secured
for the move. Agricultural implements,
mining tools, railroad memorabilia and
local business items wait for attention.

Raising the remaining funds to match
the Home for History grant is obviously a
challenge in these difficult economic
times. But when enough money is raised
to match the grant portion of the cabinet
expense and cash or in-kind donations
provide for another forklift, the final
physical move can be scheduled.

The La Plata County Historical
Society celebrates its 35th anniversary this
year. Please help us complete the Home
for History project and secure the next 35
years. ◆

Jan Postler has been Animas Museum
curator of collections and registrar for 13
years. Trained in collections management at
the Smithsonian Institution, she has served
museums in Tennessee, Montana and
Colorado.

PPrreesseerrvviinngg
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s I have mentioned in earlier
editions of Historic Durango, I
feel it is very important to learn

and record what my family has experi-
enced. The same type of information will
be important to your family.

For example, what was life like for
your parents or grandparents in the
1930s? For many, money was tight, if
not extremely scarce. My parents were
newlyweds in 1932. Mother, who was
not much of a cook, mastered preparing
dried beans in a variety of ways. Even in
the city, my parents had a garden.

My grandparents lived in Iowa, on a
farm that had been in their family for
more than a century. The day after my
grandfather wrote a check to buy cattle in
Kansas City, the bank failed, leaving him
with a worthless check and no money. He
was luckier than many farmers because a
local man – who kept his money at home
because he didn’t believe in banks - lent

him what he needed to buy the cattle. He
spent most of the rest of his life repaying
that debt.

During the depression, my grandpar-
ents were faced not only with little
money but also hot, dry weather condi-
tions. Crops and pasture grass were
almost nonexistent. My grandmother
planted a huge garden and carried water
from a well to keep the plants alive and
producing. She canned everything – fruit,
vegetables and meat. My grandparents
raised and butchered a steer, some hogs,
and of course, chickens. They did not get
electricity until after WWII, so there was
no refrigeration. Some of the pork was
smoked in their own smokehouse, and
the rest of the beef and pork was canned.
Lard was rendered from the pork fat, and
the cracklings were made into lye soap.  

With little or no cash, Grandma traded
eggs and cream for the only items they
used from the store: sugar, coffee and flour.

If there weren’t enough eggs and cream for
trade, Grandpa ground field corn into corn
meal to use instead of flour. Walking,
horse-and-buggy or a team and wagon pro-
vided the family’s transportation. 

Each family has different backgrounds
and experiences. I’m fortunate to have an
aunt who remembers these difficult
times. However you can, try to learn and
record life experiences for your own fam-
ily’s records.

There are many differences and some
similarities in comparing life in 2009 with
that of seventy or eighty years ago. My
father’s boss described the 1930s as a time
to practice “uncomfortable economy.” For
some of us, that describes life today.

Many of us are experiencing financial
stress these days. Why not keep a journal
of how you and your family are coping?
Future generations, and historians, will
appreciate it. ◆

President’s Message
BY MARY JANE HOOD

1 AABBOOUUTT UUSS 2

A
WWhheenn  II  wwaanntt  ttoo  uunnddeerrssttaanndd  wwhhaatt

iiss  hhaappppeenniinngg  ttooddaayy  oorr  ttrryy  ttoo  ddeecciiddee
wwhhaatt  wwiillll  hhaappppeenn  ttoommoorrrrooww,,  II  llooookk
bbaacckk..

--  OOlliivveerr  WWeennddeellll  HHoollmmeess  JJrr..

This year’s issue of Historic
Durango looks back on a very trou-
bled time in the United States, a
decade of particular interest in
today’s challenging economy.

When times are tough, people
want to learn from the past, but pay
less attention to preserving the sto-
ries of the present. Yet some day,
people will want to put a face to this
period, just as we have tried to do
with the Great Depression. And in
this era of electronic communica-
tion and digital photography, where
will they find those stories and
faces? So much will be lost if some-
one doesn’t make a conscious effort
to preserve it. Our job as a historical
society has never been more critical
than it is today.  

This issue includes suggestions of
how you can help preserve the history
of this time, as it is being made. Here’s
another important step: join the La
Plata County Historical Society. 

We help people learn about their
past – their ancestors, their property,
photos, textiles and the multitude of
things that get handed down from
one generation to the next. We help
people preserve that past, either
through teaching them proper tech-
niques of caring for items or through
accepting donations of items having
local historic interest. We help peo-
ple celebrate the past through our
special events. And we help people
learn about how to preserve their
own experiences and cherished items
for future generations.

Help us do what we do, and
learn more about how you can be a
part of historic preservation.

You’ll see on our membership
form that we reward you for your
membership too. We’ve even created
a new student membership category,
and increased the benefits for life-
time members. Freebies and dis-
counts are especially welcome these
days. 

So is your commitment to his-
toric preservation. Join us today.
Thank you! ◆

YYOOUU CCAANN HHEELLPP
PPRREESSEERRVVEE HHIISSTTOORRYY

LLAA PPLLAATTAA CCOOUUNNTTYY HHIISSTTOORRIICCAALL SSOOCCIIEETTYY

MMIISSSSIIOONN SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTT::
We are a Colorado non-profit corporation organized to:

■■ Collect, preserve and interpret artifacts, archival hold-
ings and other items pertinent to the history, culture and
heritage of the San Juan Basin, with a  focus on La Plata
County.
■■ Promote and develop a museum and research facility to
accomplish these goals.
■■ Promote public awareness and understanding of his-
torical issues and events through various educational
exhibits, programs, tours, etc.
■■  Promote historic preservation by fostering an appreci-
ation of history and  historic structures, sites and land-
scapes.

LLAA PPLLAATTAA CCOOUUNNTTYY HHIISSTTOORRIICCAALL SSOOCCIIEETTYY

BBOOAARRDD OOFF DDIIRREECCTTOORRSS::
President: Mary Jane Hood
Board members: Paula Berg, Elizabeth Green, Sharon
Hubbs, Marilee Jantzer-White, Kathy McKenzie, Kathy
Myrick, Duane Smith, Bruce Spining, Emily Ter Maat

TTHHEE AANNIIMMAASS MMUUSSEEUUMM::  
33006655  WWeesstt  22nndd  AAvvee..  DDuurraannggoo,,  CCOO  ((997700))  225599--22440022

SSuummmmeerr  HHoouurrss  ((MMaayy  --  OOccttoobbeerr))::  Mon. thru Sat. 10 am - 6 pm
WWiinntteerr  HHoouurrss  ((NNoovveemmbbeerr  --  AApprriill))::  Tues. thru Sat. 10 am - 4 pm

MMUUSSEEUUMM SSTTAAFFFF::
Robert McDaniel, Director; Jan Postler, Registrar;
Bobbie Hamilton, Adminstrative Assistant 

PPAARRTTIICCUULLAARRSS
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1 AABBOOUUTT UUSS 2

Museums: 
Stimulus for an Ailing Economy

BY ROBERT MCDANIEL, MUSEUM DIRECTOR

imes are tough. For those of us born after the
Great Depression, the economy is the worst
we’ve ever experienced. Lost jobs, lost homes,

and seemingly endless wars erode the sense of well being
that Americans used to take for granted.

Museums are not immune to the challenges at hand, but
they’re playing a positive role in people’s lives as they seek ways
to cope and reevaluate their priorities. People are seeking expe-
riences, not possessions. Faced with the necessity of spending
wisely, families are visiting museums, zoos, botanical gardens
and aquariums for enlightenment, stimulation, education and
entertainment. Museums also provide the lessons of history in
these troubled times – real life examples of how people and
governments responded to previous economic downturns.

Museum attendance across the country is up at a time
when retail spending is down, and visitor numbers at the
Animas Museum reflect this national trend. Unfortunately,
revenue from admissions provides only a fraction of what
it takes to keep our doors open. And while visitation is up,
other funding is declining. Government and foundation
resources are shrinking, and so is their support of muse-
ums. Yet without historical societies and museums like
ours, how will people know how our towns and county
handled the challenges of this economic downturn? 

As you read this issue of Historic Durango you begin to
realize how profoundly the Great Depression and Franklin
Roosevelt’s New Deal programs affected the lives of La Plata
County residents and all Americans. We’ve developed an

abiding interest in this period of our history, and we look to
the historical record to tell us about life in those times.

Unfortunately, our research has shown that there are
notable gaps in that historical record. For example, we know
that women were employed by the WPA to sew clothing and
can food, but we don’t know who those women were, what
types of clothing they made, for whom they made them, and
who benefited from the canned goods. Recording that histo-
ry probably seemed less important than surviving the times,
but those experiences may now be lost to memory.

Today’s experiences are the essence of tomorrow’s histo-
ry. As we once again struggle through a bad economy, it’s
important that we record extraordinary changes in our
lives and ensure that those records are preserved in a public
institution for future generations.

The historical society’s mission is to collect and preserve
our history and make it available to the public. We’ve under-
taken an extraordinary project that will greatly enhance our
ability to achieve that mission - our “Home for History”
project. Outcomes of the project will be a state-of-the-art
collections storage space, expanded space for public pro-
gramming, and, ultimately, a new research library.

We are reminded that with challenge comes opportuni-
ty. As people continue to seek experiences that are low in
cost but high in value, the Animas Museum welcomes the
opportunity to provide those meaningful experiences. That
will only be possible if the community continues to sup-
port the museum and its work. ◆

T

EEvveennttss  aarree  aatt  tthhee  AAnniimmaass  MMuusseeuumm  uunnlleessss
ootthheerrwwiissee  nnootteedd

MMaayy  1144::  ““PPrreesseerrvviinngg  WWeesstteerrnn  HHiissttoorryy,,””
Andrew Gulliford: 7:30 p.m., free admission

MMaayy  1166::  FFlloorriiddaa  CCeemmeetteerryy  ttoouurr 10:00 a.m.,
tickets $10 per person, reservations required

MMaayy  2200::  CCoommmmuunniittyy  HHeerriittaaggee  AAwwaarrdd
DDiinnnneerr honoring Cy Scarborough & the
Bar D and Alva Short family/descendants:
5:30 p.m. at the Bar D, tickets $30 per per-
son, reservations required

MMaayy  2288::  ““WWiitthh  PPiicckkss,,  SShhoovveellss  &&  HHooppee  ~~
CCCCCC  LLeeggaaccyy  oonn  tthhee  CCoolloorraaddoo  PPllaatteeaauu,,””
Elizabeth A. Green: 7:30 p.m., free admission

MMaayy  3300::  PPiioonneeeerr  TTeexxttiillee  CCrraaffttss,,  Living
History Program, time TBA

JJuunnee  1133::  OOppeenn  HHoouussee free admission & gift
shop sale

HHeerrmmoossaa  CCeemmeetteerryy  TToouurr 10:00 a.m., tickets   
$10 per person, reservations required

JJuunnee  2277::  PPiioonneeeerr  BBaakkiinngg,, Living History
Program, time TBA

JJuullyy  2255::  LLiivviinngg  HHiissttoorryy  PPrrooggrraamm**,, time TBA

AAuugg..  2299::  LLiivviinngg  HHiissttoorryy  PPrrooggrraamm**,, time TBA

SSeepptt..  2266::  LLiivviinngg  HHiissttoorryy  PPrrooggrraamm**,, time TBA

OOcctt..  1100::  OOppeenn  HHoouussee free admission & gift
shop sale

EExxhhiibbiitt  OOppeenniinngg  LLaanndd  ooff  OOppppoorrttuunniittyy  ~~
SSeettttlliinngg  &&  DDeevveellooppiinngg  RRuurraall  LLaa  PPllaattaa  CCoouunnttyy,,
“Land of Opportunity,” Ruth Lambert &
Jill Seyfarth: 1 p.m.

DDeecc..  44--55CChhrriissttmmaass  BBaazzaaaarr

AAddddiittiioonnaall  ffrreeee  lleeccttuurreess::  PPlleeaassee  vviissiitt  oouurr
wweebbssiittee  wwwwww..aanniimmaassmmuusseeuumm..oorrgg  ffoorr  mmoorree
iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn..

** Living History Programs include children’s
activities

AANNIIMMAASS MMUUSSEEUUMM
UUPPCCOOMMIINNGG EEVVEENNTTSS

OONN TTHHEE CCOOVVEERR::
Sterling Harris relaxes inside the log cabin at the high country Harris Ranch, which he and his

family bought during the Great Depression. Located on the East Fork of Hermosa Creek,
the hand-hewn log cabin appears on old USGS topo maps as the “Old Toll Gate” on the

Rockwood-Rico toll road. The Harris Ranch now belongs to the San Juan National Forest.
See a story about the ranch on page 6.

Animas Museum Photo Archives

Historic Durango is an annual publication of La
Plata County Historical Society and is distrib-
uted courtesy of The Durango Herald.

Editor: Elizabeth A. Green
Art Director: Lisa Snider Atchison

Like his fellow CCCers, Tyner earned $30 a month,
but was allowed to keep only $5. The rest was sent to his
father, who saved the payments to help his son attend
college. He played a lot of poker in his free time, “penny
ante because we didn’t have very much money.”

“That was my livelihood, and also a means to an end,”
he reflected almost 75 years later. Tyner attended Fort
Lewis College (then a junior college south of Hesperus),
and Colorado State University, where he earned a degree
in engineering. He eventually became project manager
for the Bureau of Reclamation in Durango.

As happened often in the CCC, the park project ended
and the boys were transferred to Red Rocks, on the Front
Range. The Soil Conservation Service took over the camp,
focusing on irrigation and erosion control projects around
Durango. The camp closed for good in November 1941.

The boys in a second CCC camp in western La Plata
County worked for the Division of Grazing, improving
water management and eradicating nuisance wildlife
under the supervision of Hans Aspaas. The Red Mesa
camp, on the bank of the La Plata River, opened in mid-
1935. Less than a year later it was slated for closing, but
Congressman Edward T. Taylor interceded. Like the
Durango CCCers, some of the Red Mesa men were sent
to a side camp in Farmington, prompting business own-
ers there to protest the closing as well.

On New Year’s Day 1938, the Red Mesa camp hosted
a “Good Will & Appreciation Banquet,” attended by 200
people from neighboring communities. Five months later,
the camp was closed and the men were transferred to
Paradox, Colorado.

CCCers from Forest Service camps in the region came
to La Plata County to fight forest fires on Junction Creek
and Missionary Ridge, as well as two fires east of
Bayfield. A Bureau of Reclamation CCC camp in the
Pine River Valley provided labor for road building and
tree clearing in preparation for filling Vallecito Reservoir.
It is described in a separate story about construction of
Vallecito dam and reservoir. 

Seventeen-year-old Morris Grodsky started his CCC
stint with the Bureau of Reclamation near Grand Junction,
then was transferred to Vallecito in April 1940. “Each day
we got on the trucks and drove down precarious impro-
vised roads to our work sites,” he wrote many years later.
“This was backbreaking labor, and it was our daily fare.”

On weekends, Grodsky recalled, the CCCers “splashed
on after shave lotion and jumped on the trucks taking us
into Durango.” It was, he wrote, “a wild town on a
Saturday night. Cowboys, miners, and CCC boys all

came into town raising hell.”
The CCC-Indian Division had temporary “family

camps” in both Towaoc and Ignacio. Unlike the regular
CCC, the Indian Division enrolled married men with
few age restrictions. Enrollees and their families were
required to provide their own tents and household goods,
while the Office of Indian Affairs provided wood, water
and sanitation facilities. Like the regular CCC, Indian
Division camps offered recreational activities and both
vocational and academic classes to interested enrollees.

Despite the newspaper’s predictions of a municipal park
that would last for centuries, only two picnic structures sur-
vive on Reservoir Hill. The Lions Den overlooking the city of
Durango is well known, while a second structure is relatively
hidden behind the college dormitories. Both are testimonials
to the skilled stone work that characterized the CCC
throughout the country, and especially in the Southwest.

Most of the reservoirs and a number of the dikes and
roads built by the Red Mesa CCCers still serve area
ranchers. One remnant of the camp (which was on pri-
vate land leased by the government) remains: a single, tall
sandstone column that once marked the entrance. 

Thirty years after he left the CCC, Morris Grodsky
returned to Vallecito with his sons. The lake, the road sur-
rounding it, the vacation cabins and dude ranches were an
“entire population where there had once been only stray
white-faced cattle.” He looked at it all and smiled.

We did it, he thought proudly. ◆

Elizabeth A. Green is co-author of With Picks, Shovels
& Hope: The CCC and Its Legacy on the Colorado
Plateau, which is available in the Animas Museum gift
shop. She is a member of the La Plata County Historical

High School, Smiley was
promoted to superinten-
dent. He held the job for
37 years, retiring in 1943.

Smiley was pragmatic
and smart. He earned his
construction savvy when
he successfully oversaw
the development of the
new high school in 1916.
A former industrial arts
teacher, Don Johnson,
remembered that although
the superintendent was
“not mechanically
inclined,” he took the
manual training courses
and taught them the first
year until a suitable
teacher was found. One of
Smiley’s junior high prin-
cipals, Hoyt Miller, wrote
of his former boss, “Seven
o’clock each school day
finds him busy at his desk.
At 4 p.m. each day he peremptorily bangs shut his office
door and retires to his home. Here he meticulously tends
his own lawn with a precision that keeps each blade of
grass and every shrub in a state of startled alertness.”

Smiley was also a born leader. When the financially
strapped school board faced layoffs and salary cuts during
the depression, Smiley voluntarily took a pay cut. His
influence may have been the critical factor in getting the
bond issue passed to pay for the new junior high school.

The Lions Club, with many of Smiley’s former stu-
dents among its membership, championed naming the
school in his honor. His sincere protestations went
unheeded and Emory E. Smiley Junior High School
opened in 1936. The 45,468-square-foot building oper-
ated as a junior high and then as a middle school for 59
years until Escalante Middle School opened in 1995.
The Durango school district sold the property to a pri-
vate partnership and the building now houses studios,
arts businesses and community organizations. 

Emory Smiley died in1961 at the age of 88. He is
buried in Greenmount Cemetery, which provides a fine
view of the schools he built. ◆

Animas Museum Photo Archives

Emory E. Smiley is shown in the
back yard of his house on 8th
Street and 7th Avenue wearing
his Masonic Lodge uniform.

CCCCCC
kk continued from page 7

Elizabeth A. Green photo
CCCers built this picnic shelter on the southeast corner of
Reservoir Hill using large sandstone blocks.

SSmmiilleeyy
kk continued from page 9
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““GGoooodd  bbyyee  aallll  ffrriieennddss..  TTiimmeess  ttoooo  hhaarrdd..  TThhee  BBooyyss  ccaann
hhaavvee  aa  wwaakkee..  WWhhaatt  II  oowwee  nnooww  II’’llll  oowwee  ffoorreevveerr..””        

––  FFrraannkk  BBuurrkkee’’ss  ssuuiicciiddee  nnoottee,,  MMaayy  11889933

““TTiimmeess  wweerree  rroouugghh..  YYoouu  ccoouulldd  bbuuyy  ppoorrkk  cchhooppss  ffoorr
1100  cceennttss  aa  ppoouunndd  bbuutt  nnoobbooddyy  ccoouulldd  bbuuyy  tthheemm  ’’ccaauussee
tthheeyy  ddiiddnn’’tt  hhaavvee  aa  ddiimmee..  YYoouu  ccoouullddnn’’tt  bbeegg,,  bboorrrrooww
oorr  sstteeaall  aa  jjoobb..””

––  JJiimm  SSaarrttoorriiss,,  11993333

urango and La Plata County have gone
through two major economic crashes and
depressions – the 1893 crash followed by

depression in 1929/30s, although it was not until 1930
that the real downturn hit Durango. It might be an aca-
demic argument as to which was worse, but it seems a
better case can be made for the former collapse.

Durango and the county relied on mining, smelting,
and agriculture in the nineties and all three were devas-
tated by the events of 1893 and later. At that time, no
government aid rode to the rescue. One and all had to
pull themselves out of the hard times. By the way, hard
time balls were the “hit” of the social season.

All that aside, the 1930s were bad enough for the
county and its towns. The population in those days
remained predominantly agricultural, with a bit of
tourism thrown in, along with some off-in-the-corner
bootlegging. To the north, Silverton was enjoying a
resurgence of mining activity which softened the impact
of the depression there.

In a day and time when “grow or die” was a maxim,
the county and its communities were moving ahead at a
much slower pace than before. La Plata County’s popu-
lation grew from 12,975 in 1930 to 15,399 in 1940;
Durango’s moved up from 5,400 to 5,887 for the same
time period, Bayfield from 277 to 372 and Ignacio from
464 to 555.

Animas City, a couple miles north of its railroad-
birthed rival, jumped by the largest percentage in the
county, from 457 to 712. Why? It might have been
because of the lower cost of living, city taxes, and other
factors that enticed people to the smaller, more rural vil-
lage. All told, urban folk represented 49 percent of the
county’s population Statistics can be found on home
foreclosures, business failures, lost jobs, out-of-work
individuals, farm/ranch foreclosures, reduction of work
hours and hourly wages, and the like. But the real story
of the 1930s was its emotional impact on individuals.
These may be better understood by letting people tell
their own stories.

In absolute fairness it must by pointed out that in
the opinion of several of the interviewees, “Durango
existed a lot better than a lot of places.” Such compar-
isons, however, are hard to make; individuals reacted
differently to the times and their situations. 

EETTHHEELL NNEELLSSOONN: You better believe times were hard.
There were houses all up and down Third Avenue
that were boarded up. People couldn’t afford to live
in them. Maybe a couple of families moved in
together. We had a family across the street that had a

little boy, I guess 3 or 4 [same age as her son], and
this little boy would come over and have lunch quite
often. One day he began to cry and [my husband]
asked him, “Why are you eating so fast?” He said,
“Well, if you hadn’t had anything but squash to eat
all winter, you’d eat fast too.”

EEDDNNAA GGOOOODDMMAANN:: People would come to the house
to ask for food; they would work it off. Times were
really hard. I don’t know how we got through it, but
we did. 

JJOOHHNN MMCCNNAAMMAARRAA:: One time I went down Main
Street [to] every damn store both sides of the street
and said I would work for $10 a week. And I didn’t
get one [job].

CCOOYYNNEE TTHHOOMMPPSSOONN::  You couldn’t get a job because
people, like on the farms, could not afford to feed
you, so you couldn’t work for room and board.
1930-34 were the bad years. 

LLEEOONNAARRDD GGLLAAZZEERR:: In 1930 the smelter closed, that
hurt because it was the community’s big payroll.
That hurt Durango tremendously. Durangoans just
tightened their belts a little bit and learned to get by
on a lot less.

LLEESSTTEERR GGAARRDDEENNSSWWAARRTTZZ: Times were very hard. I
remember trading a box of shotgun shells for a
turkey. And we had our friends over. Somebody
brought potatoes, somebody brought a salad and we
all ate. We used to do that a lot, get together with a
group of friends and pool our food together. 

BBEESSSSIIEE FFIINNEEGGAANN:: We had a home. We lost it. We
couldn’t . . . keep up with the taxes, so we just
walked out, didn’t get a dime out of it. 

Of course there were always exceptions to a person’s
experience in the 1930s. One Durango individual, who
shall remain anonymous, attended sheriffs’ auctions of
foreclosed ranches and farms. He purchased some, and
if the owners were friends of his, he let them stay and
pay him. However, he also kept some property, which
became the basis of his personal fortune.

What did the depression mean in personal terms?
Perhaps the story Jim Sartoris told about working for
the WPA in the San Luis Valley demonstrates the depth
of despair, the dismay. He visited a family in the dead of
a desperately cold winter day, with the wind seemingly
blowing through their tarpaper shack. With little chil-
dren running around in their underwear and the parents
in rags, the home was only barely heated by a little fire
in the stove. On top of the stove in a large pan was a
baby wrapped in rags as the parents frantically tried to
keep it from freezing.

The 1930s are now a snapshot of history, frozen in
time. Those days do, however, offer something to tell
the twenty-first century, if we would but pay heed. ◆

Duane A. Smith has been a professor of history at Fort
Lewis College since 1964. He focuses his prolific writing
and research on Colorado, mining, Civil War, urban and
baseball history. Smith is a member of the La Plata County
Historical Society board of directors.
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Weathering the Tough Times
BY DUANE A. SMITH

D

Animas Museum Photo Archives

The Durango Dutch Band helped lift spirits on many occasions during the Depression. This photo was taken at the intersection of
9th Street & Main Avenue in 1937, probably at the Fiesta parade.

with the oldest water rights remained productive, but sev-
eral thousand lower priority acres went dry, prompting
the Office of Indian Affairs (OIA) to join local efforts to
store and control the water. The OIA’s goal was storage to
irrigate almost 17,000 acres of arid Indian land. 

Twenty-nine years after the Pine River Indian Agency
water claim was contested, the United States District
Court decided in October 1930 in favor of the agency.
The court awarded prior rights dating to the1868 treaty.
With the added support of the District Court decision,
the future looked bright for a water storage project.

Ironically, some of the earliest homesteaders, including
the Sullivans, Deckers and Dunsworths, soon realized
that parts of their homesteads would end up at the bot-
tom of the new lake that was supposed to help them with
their water problems. 

The project was assigned to the Bureau of Reclamation
and President Franklin D. Roosevelt approved it in 1937.
A new name, “Vallecito,” was used to avoid confusion
with Pine River projects in other states.

The work could not have come at a better time. This
giant construction project offered good jobs during a
time of massive unemployment in the Great Depression.
People came from all around the region to work there.
Lila Greer remembers her uncle would walk or get a ride
from their family homestead south of Marvel to work at
the dam. That’s no short commute. 

The Bureau of Reclamation set up a Civilian
Conservation Corps (CCC) camp just south of the dam
site. On May 15, 1939, 65 men arrived from the
Elephant Butte, New Mexico, camp and started con-
structing Camp BR 81. They installed a mess hall, two

headquarters buildings, a recreation hall, an infirmary, a
bath house, a latrine, a pump house, an oil house, 37 pyra-
mid tents, five wall tents and three hospital tents. About
200 men lived at the camp, but only in the summer
because the high elevation made it too cold for winter resi-
dency in the tents and unheated wooden buildings. Under
supervision of the Bureau of Reclamation construction
engineer, C.A. Burns, CCC workers cleared vegetation
from the entire reservoir site and from miles of roadway.
They built operation roads, installed pipe culverts and
landscaping. The camp closed in November 1941, when
many of the enrollees were transferred to a camp in
Mancos. The remains of the CCC camp are still evident at
the Vallecito Resort, located at 13030 County Road 501. 

A “Government Camp” was located upslope from the
CCC camp, where Burns lived with the other administra-
tors and engineers. The houses from the old Government
Camp and the Pine River Irrigation District Office, which
occupies one of the old headquarters buildings, are located
across County Road 501 from the former CCC camp. 

Other people found jobs with the commercial contrac-
tors. The general contractor was the Martin Wunderlich
Company of Jefferson City, Missouri, with a winning bid

of $2,115,870. Work began on May 13, 1938 with more
than 75 employees. In 1938, the Weston Lumber
Company of Denver purchased and removed an estimat-
ed five million board feet of saleable lumber from the
reservoir site. Wunderlich employees built an earth fill
dam that is 162 feet high and 4,010 feet long, containing
3,738,000 cubic yards of material. 

Wunderlich finished the work in October 1941. The
old road, which would be inundated by the new lake, was
replaced by a new route. 

Vallecito Dam was dedicated on September 14, 1941.
Dottie Warlick writes in her book Vallecito Country that
“…seven thousand people came to the dedication cere-
mony. The road leading to Vallecito was a big cloud of
dust all day long.” The CCC camp buildings were dis-
mantled and removed in 1942. ◆

Note: The figures provided in this story came from two
histories written by the Bureau of Reclamation about
Vallecito and CCC Camps.

Jill Seyfarth is an archaeologist, a cultural resources plan-
ner, and a resident of Animas City.

VVaalllleecciittoo
kk continued from page 7

As in any burgeoning industry, generation, transmis-
sion and distribution of electricity reached and stretched,
reorganized and settled. By 1959 LPEA was one of the
original four cooperatives that joined together to start
Colorado-Ute Electric Association, Inc., a generation and
transmission co-op. In 1992, Tri-State Generation &
Transmission Association purchased portions of
Colorado-Ute, establishing the basis for the structure that

exists today. LPEA is one of 44 member cooperatives
receiving power from Tri-State. 

Today, after 70 years of growth, LPEA provides service
to more than 40,000 meters fed along some 3,500 miles of
distribution and transmission line. Energy consumption is
well in excess of 1 billion kilowatt hours annually. Nearly
30,000 LPEA members share in ownership of the coopera-
tive, which is valued at more than $230 million. ◆

This story was  provided by La Plata Electric Association,
which is a sponsor of this year’s Community Heritage Award
event on May 20, 2009, at the Bar D.

EElleeccttrriicciittyy
kk continued from page 10
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How would you like to buy
an ice cream cone for a nickel?
Or a double dip “special” for

only seven cents? I’ll bet you would!
You could, if you lived back in the

1930s. That seems like a long time ago,
but your great-grandparents might
have been children then.

If you went to the store
with your mom, you could
purchase a candy bar, a bottle
of pop, and a couple of apples
all for the same price, five
cents each. A comic book cost
ten cents. Going to a movie to
see a double feature on Saturday
afternoon also cost a dime. 

All that seems wonderful, but some-
thing else was going on. Folks called it a
depression. A depression means hard
times, and they are no fun. Some dads
and moms lost their jobs. Some could not
pay for their house, and had to move out.
There weren’t many presents under the
Christmas tree either.

A little girl, about the age of some of
you, lived on a farm outside of Durango.
Every Saturday, she and her mom would
drive to town to shop. And if she had

been a really good girl she got a special
treat. 

One Saturday they came into town
and finished shopping. She asked her
mother, “Mommy, mommy what about
my ice cream cone? Wasn’t I really good

all week?” Remember now, it cost
only a nickel.

“Yes, you were, honey.” Then
her mom started to cry.
“Honey, we can’t afford an ice
cream cone.”

A boy’s father saved money
for him to go to college, which

not many people did in those
days. Then the depression came

along and his Dad had to spend that
money to keep the family going. The
young man never went to college.

A lady told me her family lost their
home because they could not pay the
taxes. They just had to move out. Imagine
doing that and leaving your toys and most
of your clothes behind!

So now, when mom and dad talk
about the hard times of today, you tell
them about the Great Depression. Tell
them times eventually got better back
then, and they will today, as well. ◆

HISTORIC DURANGO 2009 119966 HISTORIC DURANGO 2009

n the depths of the Great Depression, the
ranching outfit of John E. Harris & Sons
decided on a bold move.

For the princely sum of $2,000, the Harrises pur-
chased a 480-acre ranch in La Plata County’s high
country along the East Fork of Hermosa Creek in 1934,
including a log cabin, two barns, cattle, horses, saddles,
bedrolls, and a chuck wagon. John Harris Jr., who was
18 at the time, remembered 60 years later that they
mortgaged everything they owned to make it work,
including their saddles and bedrolls.

The property consisted of three contiguous 160-acre
ranches that Daniel Murnane, George Pearson and
William Pearson had homesteaded or purchased from the
government in 1893, 1910 and 1931, respectively. The
ranch’s hand-hewn log cabin was built about 1880, proba-
bly as the toll station on the Rockwood-to-Rico toll road.

By 1931, Bill Pearson had consolidated the ranches
and sold the property to John Lord. Lord’s father was a
big stockholder in the Mesa Grande Gas Company in
Philadelphia, which built a pipeline from the Ute Dome
to Durango. John Harris Jr. remembered that the
younger Lord “had seen this country and had to have
some of it.” The elder John Harris was “taking care of
the Ute Dome gas wells at the time” (1929 or 1930)
and got acquainted with the Lords. After he realized
that keeping up a high country ranch “wasn’t his cup of
tea,” Lord sold out to the Harrises.

John Harris Sr. had brought his family from
Oklahoma to a ranch he homesteaded near La Plata,
New Mexico, in 1907. His son Sterling was born in
Pawnee, Oklahoma, in 1908, and traveled to La Plata in
a covered wagon at the tender age of three months.
Sterling’s brother John was born in La Plata in 1915.

Both boys were involved in stock-raising from an
early age. By age 10, Sterling was helping his father and
others run cattle in the Dutch Creek area near Hermosa
Creek. By the time he was 17, he had his own small
herd to trail up into the Hermosa area. Sterling’s son
Stan remembered his father telling him that a summer’s
supplies cost $18 – a box of .22 shells, a box of .30-30
shells, some salt side (uncured bacon), flour, lard, coffee,
sugar, beans, salt and pepper.

Most ranchers in the San Juan Basin grazed their
livestock in the lush pastures of the high country during
the summer on either private ranches or public lands
grazing allotments. They grew hay on lower elevation
ranches to feed their herds during the winter. The sum-
mer grazing season ran from June 15 to October 15,
primarily because of the terms of their grazing permit.

Before driving their cattle into the high country, the
Harrises gathered supplies for the summer – 100
pounds of beans, 200 pounds of potatoes (usually pur-
chased from the Zinks or another Animas Valley
farmer), and other staples.

About the first week of June the cattle drive started
from La Plata and took seven to eight days to reach
Hermosa Park. The Harris brothers and two or three
hired cowboys usually drove about 300 head to the
summer range. As many as eight or ten calves might be
born along the way, and they had a two-wheeled wagon
that followed the chuck wagon to carry the newborns.

The hired hands, including the cook, made about
$30 a month and board. The first chore after reaching
the summer ranch was to pack in salt, three blocks to a

horse. The cows ate a lot of salt, and the Harrises con-
trolled their range by the placement of salt blocks.

Fences had to be repaired from snow damage, and
the new calves had to be branded. Haying also started at
the La Plata ranch about the middle of June, so John
and some of the hands returned almost immediately to
put up hay. Someone had to stay at the Hermosa Park
ranch all summer, and Sterling, who disliked haying,
was the one who usually stayed.

Though they worked hard, the Harris brothers had
some free time to fish the creeks, read westerns and occa-
sionally prospect for gold. John remembered, “We had a
gold mine staked where the [Graysill] vanadium mine  is .
. . We didn’t know anything about vanadium then. It did-
n’t produce any gold. We sure thought it was going to.”

Raising livestock was not immune to the tough eco-
nomic times. John recalled, “During the depression, the
government killed a lot of our cattle and paid us $20 a
head to get rid of them. We buried them up here in a
big pit. We had to do it because there wasn’t a market
for them.” 

Lightning storms, encounters with bears, and poker
games punctuated the summer season. About October
12, they would gather the cattle for the drive back to
New Mexico, leaving on the 15th. The drive usually
took one less day going south because the calves were
bigger and could travel faster. Calves were sold in the
fall and usually loaded on the train at Aztec to be
shipped out on the narrow gauge.

This rhythm of the seasons continued for more than
30 years. After World War II, they began to truck the
cattle to the summer range because of increased traffic
on the highway. The three-hour trip was a lot easier on
the livestock. Raising families changed their routines,
also. By 1971, John was ready to sell the high country
ranch, though Sterling was reluctant. They sold out to
Ray Duncan, owner of Purgatory Ski Area, and the
property was traded to the Forest Service in 1991.

When asked years later whether they were in business
to make a living or to make money, John replied, “To
make a living mostly.” His wife Fay added, “He was
born into it and [it] is all he has ever known. It was a
good life.” ◆

1 TTIIMMEELLIINNEE::  11993300SS 2

A High Country Ranch in the Depression
BY ROBERT MCDANIEL

I

Animas Museum Photo Archives

Sterling Harris surveys Harris brothers cattle from a rock bluff
overlooking the East Fork of Hermosa Creek.
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Depressions are No Fun
BY DUANE A. SMITH

H

It’s time to sharpen your pencils and take a closer look at Historic Durango!
How often do you get to win something just for paying attention to details?
Here’s your chance. 

TThhee  aannsswweerrss  ttoo  tthheessee  qquueessttiioonnss  aarree  aallll  iinn  tthhee  ssttoorriieess,,  pphhoottooss  aanndd  ccaappttiioonnss..
WWrriittee  tthheemm  oonn  tthhiiss  ffoorrmm,,  aanndd  bbrriinngg  iitt  iinn  ttoo  tthhee  mmuusseeuumm..  WWee’’llll  ggiivvee  yyoouu  aanndd
yyoouurr  ppaarreennttss  ((oorr  ootthheerr  aadduulltt  wwiitthh  yyoouu))  ffrreeee  aaddmmiissssiioonn  AANNDD  aa  ffrreeee  ppoosstteerr..  TThhee
ffiirrsstt  cchhiilldd  wwhhoo  ttuurrnnss  iinn  aa  qquuiizz  ffoorrmm  wwiitthh  aallll  tthhee  rriigghhtt  aannsswweerrss  wwiillll  aallssoo  rreecceeiivvee  aa
ffrreeee  oonnee--yyeeaarr  ssttuuddeenntt  mmeemmbbeerrsshhiipp..

I carefully organized materials about the CCC in La Plata County. Who am I?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

Name three plants the children could be tending to in the garden photo?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

We made dolls for the library out of wood or plaster and sewed clothes for
them. Who are we?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

The photo of the Durango Dutch Band was probably taken during what event?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

Which community jumped from 457 to 712 people between 1930 and 1940?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

When the Harris brothers were on a cattle drive, where did they put the new-
born calves?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

What uniform is Emory Smiley wearing in the photo of him?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

During the 1930s how much would it have cost for you and two friends to go
to a movie and share one candy bar?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

By 1938 I was considered a link between Durango and Animas City. What am I?
_____________________________________________________________

What does CCC stand for? ________________________________________

What is Sterling Harris doing in the photo?
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________

NAME __________________________________________AGE _________

ADDRESS_______________________________________________________

CITY__________________________________________________________

KKIIDDSS QQUUIIZZ

kids’        corner

Everyone helped in the
garden during the

depression – even the
kids. These youngsters
are tending a garden in

the back yard of the
Methodist minister’s

house on Third Avenue.
Animas Museum photo archives
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Preserving the Past 
to Build on the Future

1888 Wright Opera House - Ouray Colorado

Architecture Landscape Architecture
Land Planning Historic Preservation

922 East 2nd Avenue  
Durango, CO 81301

(970) 259-1078
 www.rmbell.com

he Civilian Conservation
Corps was created in 1933, 27
days after President Franklin

Delano Roosevelt took office. Over the
nine and one-half years of its existence,
more than 3.5 million 16- to 25-year-old
men worked in 4,500 “permanent” camps
and many temporary camps across the
U.S. and its territories. Three of those
camps were in La Plata County.

The army, and sometimes the navy, ran
the camps, while federal land agencies
managed the work projects. The National
Park Service and U.S. Forest Service were
the most involved, although the Bureau of
Reclamation, Division of Grazing, and
Soil Conservation Service also played a
role in La Plata County. The park service
also was charged with creating and
improving state parks. Under that direc-

tive, Durango secured a camp in 1934, for
the purpose of creating a “metropolitan
park” on Reservoir Hill, the current site of
Fort Lewis College. At the time, it con-
tained an airport and the city reservoir.

With construction of camp buildings
in high gear, officials calculated that it
infused more than $17,500 a month into
the local economy, including salaries,
building supplies, food, other supplies and
equipment. 

Most of the boys in the Reservoir Hill
camp worked where they lived. They
transplanted trees, improved drainage,
built roads and trails, and installed picnic
areas, a water system and rock features
using locally quarried sandstone. Small
crews from the camp were sent to work
at Aztec Ruins and in Farmington, either
commuting daily or staying in a tempo-

rary “spike” camp and returning to
Reservoir Hill on the weekends.

“Even the stone work that has been con-
structed looks as if it had sprung right out
of the ground,” the Durango Herald-
Democrat crowed in April 1936.
“Everything erected is being erected to last
a life time, and when finished Durango will
have a city park that we otherwise wouldn’t
have acquired in a thousand years.”

About a fourth of the enrollees were

local, including Durangoan Bob Tyner,
who worked on sloping banks, laying
water lines and digging trees for trans-
planting. “We loaded dump trucks with
shovels, one shovel-full at a time,” he
recalled, adding he “soon got off of that.”
During the winter he dug deep trenches
to uproot pinyon pines that were to be
transplanted elsewhere in the park.
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The Civilian 
Conservation Corps

BY ELIZABETH A. GREEN

T

At left: This is a rare photo of CCC camp
DG-9-C at Kline, Colorado, taken on May 10,
1938. Though the original photo is damaged,
it is the only known photo of that CCC camp.
The “DG” designation refers to Division of
Grazing.

Below: Members of the venerable Reading
Club of Durango enjoy a picnic at the south-
ernmost rock shelter constructed by the CCC
on Reservoir Hill (now College Hill). The
photo probably dates to the 1940s.

It’s a familiar story – build a dam to settle water
claims and provide a year round supply of water. But
this time the setting is the Pine River Valley. This is
the story of the Vallecito Dam.  

The Ute Indians were the earliest to use the Pine
River’s waters. They hunted and lived in the Pine
River Valley. After the Meeker Massacre in Northern
Colorado led to the relocation of the northern Ute
bands to Utah in 1881, the southern Ute bands were
offered allotments of agricultural and grazing lands.
By 1898, Moache and Capote Utes held 375 allot-
ments totaling 72,970 acres along the Pine River.

White settlers came to the Pine River Valley in the
mid-1870s and began filing homestead claims and build-
ing the first ditches to irrigate their land. The most easily
irrigated lands were homesteaded first, leaving later settlers
to construct more elaborate and extensive ditch systems. 

In 1895, the Pine River (or Los Pinos) Indian Agency
filed claims for water from the Pine River to irrigate
18,336 acres of Indian land. Their case relied on the lan-
guage in the Hunt Treaty from 27 years before. Lawyers
argued that the treaty and previous court decisions
allowed for water rights to be granted for lands that had
been set aside for the Indians. This position was contested
in 1901 by whites in the area who had filed earlier claims. 

Pine River Valley residents struggled with more
than rights to the water. The availability and control
of the river flow was a serious problem. High spring
runoffs would often give way to late summer drought.
Periodic flooding also brought disaster. In the 1920s,
the 40 to 50 ditches that diverted water directly from
the Pine River and its tributaries ran dry. Properties

TTHHEE VVAALLLLEECCIITTOO SSTTOORRYY

Please turn to page 21 kk

Courtesy Bureau of Reclamation

Vallecito Reservoir spillway was built in 1939, making it possi-
ble to divert the Pine River the following spring, and build the
dam. The completed dam was 35 feet wide at the crest and
900 feet wide from upstream toe to downstream toe.

Please turn to page 20 kk

y search for information
about the Civilian
Conservation Corps in La

Plata County, led me to a remarkable
54-page document in the files of the
Animas Museum. Compiled by Jim
Snyder, a Farmington, New Mexico resi-
dent, it included details about Southwest
Colorado CCC projects, camp locations,
supervisory personnel, and more. Much
of the information had been culled from
newspaper stories written at the time the
camps were in operation.

Who was this man, and why did he
put so much effort into researching the
CCC? He had come to the museum in
the late 1990s in search of information
on the CCC. Later, he sent the summa-
ry in appreciation for our help. Snyder’s
letterhead said he was a member of a
CCC alumni association. Had he been
a CCCer here?

My quest for information on Snyder
led me to Salmon Ruins in Bloomfield,
New Mexico, where he had volunteered as
a research librarian until he passed away in
2004. The Salmon Ruins Research
Library now holds the fruits of his re-
search into the CCC: 117 four-inch
binders filled with carefully organized
notes, maps, documents and photographs!

He wasn’t a CCCer, nor was he an
historian by trade. Near his home in
Guernsey, Wyoming, Snyder had volun-
teered at a state park that CCCers built
in the 1930s. It contained numerous
well-preserved CCC camp buildings and
a museum with CCC exhibits. Nancy
Espinosa, the curator at Salmon, said he
had edited a small newspaper, been in
the navy, and driven a cement truck.

He was working on a book about
the New Deal program. Now the par-
tially completed manuscript is among
the documents he left to the Salmon
research library. Through his research,
Jim Snyder filled in many important
gaps in the record of the CCC in the
Southwest. He traced the comings and
goings of companies, which often
moved from one camp to another. He
culled the smallest of details from his
many sources, using them to build a
picture of what went on.

Snyder’s example is one that many of
us can and should follow. His passion
became the CCC, but how many of us
have enjoyed delving into some period of
history, gathering bits of information
from a multitude of sources? All too
often, we tend to keep the results of our
research to ourselves. Snyder never got to
publish the book he was working on, but
he carefully organized the material he
had and shared it with organizations like
the Animas Museum, helping us tell the
story of the CCC in La Plata County. 

Whether we have sorted out our fam-
ily roots, identified old photographs, or
collected objects of historic significance,
we help preserve that history by sharing
it with institutions that can care for it
and make it available for research. Make
copies of documents and photographs.
Take pictures of items you think may be
significant, and find out if they are. If
you want to keep them in your family,
find out how to care for them properly. 

And if you want to assure that others
will learn from them, consider donating
them to a historic preservation organi-
zation, as Jim Snyder did. ◆
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Share What You Know 
with Others

BY ELIZABETH A. GREEN

M

Animas Museum Photo Archives

Animas Museum Photo Archives

Courtesy FLC Center of Southwest Studies

Enrollees, officers and staff gather for a group portrait at the Reservoir Hill CCC camp.
Built in 1934 and closed in 1941, the camp included five 40-man barracks, a mess hall and
kitchen, a recreation hall, lavatory/latrine, headquarters building, officers’ and superintend-
ents’ quarters and an army supply depot/infirmary.
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Celebrating 25 Years!

ew Deal programs may not have solved the
nation’s – or La Plata County’s – economic
woes during the Great Depression, but they

definitely benefited the area. Hundreds of unemployed
people found work, and many improved their commu-
nities as well.

The Works Progress Administration (later Works
Projects Administration) was established in 1935 to pro-
vide jobs for unemployed heads of households. Most
workers were men – about 87 percent in La Plata
County. But women who were the sole source of sup-
port in their families also qualified for the program.

The most visible WPA project, both at the time of
construction and for 60-plus years thereafter, was the
fairgrounds. Local merchants created the Spanish Trails
Fiesta in 1935 to generate business and lift everyone’s
spirits. In September they held rodeos, horse races, box-
ing and wrestling matches and even a high school foot-
ball game at the race track and grandstands that had
been in place for four decades. Fifteen hundred people
turned out that first year.

What they needed was a better facility. With 25 per-
cent of the funding coming from the county, the balance
of the tab was picked up by the WPA, which started
construction in early 1936. Two crews worked on the
project, one at the fairgrounds and the other at the quar-
ry in Horse Gulch. Sand and gravel for mortar were dug
from the riverbed adjacent to the fairgrounds, the men
shoveling material up a series of platforms to reach the
top of the riverbank. Most of the workers were Hispanic.

Although the laborers were unskilled when they went
to work for the WPA, foreman Dan Cummins made
many of them into skilled stonemasons. “Some of those
people that worked there got so good at it that they
later went down and built the Sacred Heart Church,”
recalled Jim Sartoris, the safety officer who came from
Alamosa to oversee WPA projects in Southwest
Colorado. “Forty dollars a month, that was small, but
they were able to maintain a home and they still had a
little money left.”

By 1938, the WPA workers had completed a 600-
foot grandstand, large enough to seat several thousand
spectators; two ticket booths; front entrance pillars and

archways; a caretaker’s house; and two sections of horse
stalls. Most structures were made of sandstone blocks.
Adobe bricks made on the site were used for the care-
taker’s house and the east façade of the horse stalls.

With few houses in the area, the complex was consid-
ered a link between Durango to the south and Animas
City to the north. But growth eventually merged the two
towns and surrounded the fairgrounds. Debate persisted
for years over the practicality of having such a facility in
the midst of town. Even the 1990 listing on the National
Register of Historic Places couldn’t save it, and the
grandstands, horse stalls, entrance gate and adjacent tick-
et booth were dismantled in 2000. Much of the stone
was used to build new, smaller grandstands, and a wall
with archways around a ballfields concession plaza. Some
even made its way to the Animas Museum rock garden
along West Second Avenue.

The fairgrounds were one of a multitude of WPA
projects here. Crews built and improved “farm-to-mar-
ket” roads in rural parts of the county as well as oiling
and graveling city streets. They built curbs and gutters
of sandstone from Horse Gulch or concrete. They plant-

ed thousands of tree seedlings in the Lime Creek Burn
area. They laid water lines and installed sewage lines and
treatment systems. They repaired and redecorated public
buildings and schools. They cleaned and repaired books
for schools and libraries.

Women applied their domestic skills, sewing thou-
sands of “garments” that were distributed to families on
relief. Others canned fresh vegetables – nearly 4,000
quarts in 1936 alone. Like the garments, the food was
distributed to poor families. Such work was considered
the least skilled, and therefore compensated at the low-
est level in the WPA.

In 1936, the WPA employed more than 200 people
in La Plata County, infusing more than $300,000 into
the local economy. Participation increased by 25 percent
the following year, then started to decline.

“They used to ridicule people about the WPA this
and WPA that,” Sartoris recalled, “but believe me, it had
its good points. They worked hard for what they got.” ◆

N

1 TTIIMMEELLIINNEE::  11993300SS 2

The WPA
BY ELIZABETH A. GREEN Nearly half of WPA workers were 45 years or

older, and about 20 percent of them were women.
One person per family could work for WPA.
Monthly wages were from $20 to $79, depending on
location, nature of the work, and skills required. On
average, participants worked 110 hours per month.
Enrollment ranged from 1.5 million to 3.25 million.

WPA provided labor for construction of public
infrastructure, as well as programs in the arts, edu-
cation, and historic preservation. By 1939, the
WPA had:

■ Built 17,562 new public buildings 
■ Built or improved nearly 280,000 miles of

highways, roads and streets
■ Built 29,084 new bridges 
■ Taught 1.2 million people to read and write
■ Established more than 9,000 libraries and

reading rooms 
■ Made more than 181 million garments and

household articles for needy families
■ Operated nearly 15,000 community centers 
■ Taught art and music to thousands
■ Produced more that 2,800 plays, with nearly

1,100 performances a month

AACCHHIIEEVVEEMMEENNTTSS

Photo by Robert McDaniel

This 1990 photo of the La Plata County Fairgrounds clearly
shows the grandstands completed by WPA crews in 1938. Stall
row, the long line of sandstone and adobe horse stalls also con-
structed by the WPA, runs the length of the photo on the far side
of north Main Avenue. Stall row and the grandstands were
demolished in 1999-2000, although a small section of the
stands and the main ticket booth were reconstructed for a new
arena farther east at the fairgrounds.

t is the best of times and
the worst of times, to para-
phrase Charles Dickens.

Despite voluntary cutbacks of staff and
a barebones budget for 2009, a dream
is becoming reality at the Animas
Museum. A prestigious grant of
$150,000 in Conservation Project
Support from the Institute of Museum
and Library Services and a $5,000
Preservation Assistance grant from the
National Endowment for the
Humanities have enabled the museum
to address its most critical problem. Up
to now, the lack of space for its growing
permanent collection and subsequent
lack of access for public use have com-
promised the museum’s ability to serve
its purpose. 

At a time when millions of people
are losing their homes and cash dona-
tions are down, the Animas Museum is
about halfway through its Home for
History project. Donations of volunteer
hours, equipment and services in a time
of economic stress have made this
progress possible. But an additional
$20,000 is needed to complete the
$353,000 project. 

Last summer a custom-designed,
compacting storage system seemingly
grew up out of the new fourth floor of
the museum. Installations in the new
space were complex due to the unique
configuration of the reconstructed roof
with protruding beams of hips and
gables, a 105-year-old building that is
not square, and lack of an elevator.
Okland Construction loaned us a fork-
lift and operator three times.

For the past year, volunteers have
been busily preparing artifacts for the
move to the new curation level. Trained
by a professional conservator, working
in poorly lit, cramped quarters and
spilling over into exhibit spaces, the
Home for History crew have dedicated
themselves to the task. They sorted, cat-
alogued, inventoried, documented, vac-
uumed, froze, mounted, rehoused and
packed. Prepared collections included
Navajo weavings, historic and pre-his-
toric Native American pottery, period
clothing, dolls, figurines, bottles, skis,
snowshoes, cameras, phonographs, trea-
dle sewing machines, counter-top
scales, cash registers, milk cans, a tricy-
cle and a rocking chair – the stuff of
local history. They replaced dirty news-

paper packing with acid-free tissue,
acidic boxes with archival containers,
and crowded groupings with custom
individual mounts. Saddles rode in plas-
tic bags on “packing-peanut” pillows
with bed-sheet slings to the Southwest
Ice company freezer to kill any potential
insects in the wool linings. 

Last fall 20 people, two trucks and
the forklift converged to conduct the
first phase of the physical move, achiev-
ing the primary goal of moving enough
items to create a workspace in existing
storage rooms where we could rehouse
remaining collections and stage the next
move. Saddles were lifted up to the new
level via forklift provided by Holt Sheet
Metal, and placed on saddle mounts in
the new storage system. Framed paint-
ings, prints, embroideries and photo-
graphs moved into vertically divided
bins. Artifacts large and small, fragile
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The Home for History:
A Dream Coming True

BY JAN POSTLER

I

Animas Museum photo archives
Collections volunteer Bill Postler packs a
pair of skis from the museum’s collections
in preparation for the first major move to
the museum’s new fourth-level collections
storage space. With inadequate space in
the old collections storage room to pack
large or cumbersome objects, the Home for
History crew has had to use space in
exhibit areas to complete these tasks.

Please turn to page 23 kk

954 E. 2nd Ave., Suite 201 Durango, CO 81301
970-247-0506   www.durangocpas.com

& Associates

In the numbers game,
it’s not the numbers that have changed.

It’s not what you earn. It’s what you keep.
Players in the accounting field since 1958.
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t was 1935 and Charles Thomas had a problem.
In 1916 the respected Colorado Springs archi-
tect had worked in partnership with Thomas

MacLaren to create Durango’s new and beloved high school.
Thomas really won over the locals with his 1925 design for
the Elks Lodge, but that apparently was not enough. If he
wanted the commission for Durango’s new junior high
school, he was going to have to enter a design competition
and submit a plan that would best some of Colorado’s finest
architects, including Denver’s Temple Buell. 

The challenge could not have come at a tougher
time. Durango, along with the rest of the nation, was
gripped by a deep dark depression. There wasn’t much
money to build a new school. The plans would have to
be both economical and appealing. 

Thomas went to work and came up with a somewhat
industrial version of the Mission Revival Style, a fashion
inspired by the Spanish missions built in California
between 1769 and 1823. The fanciful curvilinear parapets
located high above the school entrances and the round
window over the carved wood theater doors provided a lit-
tle relief from the somewhat severe blond brick walls divid-
ed into bays by squared wall buttresses. It was a sober inter-
pretation of the Mission Style. And Durangoans liked it.

The Durango city council chipped in by abandoning
portions of the alley and of the 13th Street right of way

between East 2nd and East 3rd avenues. City Councils
rarely give up land very easily. The community clearly
expected this building would make a grand and perma-
nent statement in the neighborhood. 

The biggest challenge was finding the way to pay for
this new endeavor. Overcrowding in the schools and the
enlightened leadership of Durango School
Superintendent Emory E. Smiley convinced voters to
approve a bond issue of $97,000 in 1935 to construct the

new building. For the rest of the funding, Smiley turned to a
New Deal initiative called the Public Works Administration
(PWA). The largest national peacetime effort ever estab-
lished, the PWA created jobs by constructing large public
buildings and projects. This huge, federally-funded program
financed work across America, spending more than $7 bil-
lion dollars (in 1939-money) on some 34,500 projects in the
program’s first six years. By the time the program ended in
1942, the PWA had spent more than $10 billion on large
public projects – many of which remain with us today.

Smiley obtained an $86,198 grant from the PWA to
help pay for one of the largest federal public works
undertakings in Durango. Raymond C. Whitlock was
selected as the general contractor. He began construc-
tion in 1935, hiring local workers with guaranteed min-
imum wages at rates set by the PWA grant. Two years
later, Superintendent Smiley won an additional $9,000
grant from the PWA to add a manual training facility. 

When it came to getting things done, Emory E.
Smiley was no wimp. He came to Durango at the age of
30 in 1903 after years of teaching in rural schools, a
stint working at a logging camp in Washington, and
time off to obtain a teaching degree from Denver
University. After three years as the principal of Durango

I
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A New Deal Legacy, the Smiley School
BY JILL SEYFARTH

Animas Museum photo archives

Renowned Colorado architect Charles Thomas originally
designed Smiley Junior High to match the Classical Revival style
of the nearby Durango High School, but he altered the plans to
incorporate Mission Style elements, apparently at the direction
of the school board.

Please turn to page 21 kk

he bold designs of Santo
Domingo pottery have a long
history reaching back into the

1700s.  Black and red designs on a cream
“slipped” background characterize pottery
from this pueblo where conservatism is
prized over innovation. Santo Domingo
pueblo’s contemporary name, changed
from its original name Kiua, derives from
its Spanish mission, attesting to the
pueblo’s status as a regional headquarters
for the Spanish as early as the late 1500s.  

Pottery storage jar styles, as exempli-
fied by pieces in the La Plata County
Historical Society’s permanent collections,
are distinctive to Santo Domingo. Designs
on their polychrome pottery alternate
between simple, black painted, geometric
patterns made from Rocky Mountain bee-
weed to freer designs depicting birds and
flowers. Representations of human figures,
proscribed by religious leaders, do not
appear on their pottery. The stylized birds
on Santo Domingo’s pottery are unique to
this pueblo and frequently exhibit painted
designs on tail and breast. Unlike the

active birds that grace the pottery of  Zia
pueblo, Santo Domingo’s large birds are
shown in freeze frame, and appear
motionless. 

Pottery dated pre-1800 usually carried
red neck bands which were then gradual-
ly replaced by the black neck bands typi-
cal to pottery produced after 1900. Also
a ceremonial break routinely interrupted
the design pattern and extended upward
to the neckband in pottery that predated
1900, preventing the potter’s creative
powers from being “trapped.” 

The artistry of two families, the
Melchors and the Tenorios, dominates
contemporary pottery production at Santo
Domingo pueblo. One displayed piece by
Robert Tenorio is on loan to the Animas
Museum. Stop by the museum to see the
birds of Santo Domingo on pottery from
this New Mexico Pueblo. ◆

Marilee Jantzer-White, a member of the
LPCHS board, has a PhD in art history
specializing in Native American art and
history.
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Santo Domingo Pottery
on Exhibit

BY MARILEE JANTZER-WHITE

T

Included in the
museum’s exhibit,
“Kiua – Pottery of
Santo Domingo
Pueblo,” are these
examples of both
polychrome and
black-on-black
pottery. All these
pieces except the
pitcher in the left
foreground came
from the Durango
Public Library’s
“museum.”

Photo by Bobbie Hamilton
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n 1939, when the country
had begun to see the prover-
bial light at the end of the

tunnel of the Great Depression, regional
farm and ranch families for the first
time had hope that electricity, the tech-
nology that had transformed “city” life,
could be brought to their rural homes.

Electricity originally came to the
booming mining and railroad town of
Durango when a small direct current
(DC) electric plant opened in January
1887. Three years later, Lucien & Paul
Nunn, with support from George
Westinghouse, took a chance and built
the first industrial alternating current
(AC) power plant at Ames. It supplied
power to the Gold King mine and mill
between Ophir and Telluride. In 1893
Durango became one of the first cities
to use AC current when the Durango
Light & Power Company completed its
new power plant, now being restored as
the Discovery Museum.

Unfortunately, this exciting achieve-
ment didn’t mean folks outside of town
were able to enhance their lives with
electricity. All across the Western Slope,
small power generation plants such as
Durango’s were popping up – many to
serve mining operations, though concen-
trated populations were enjoying the
benefits as well. The impossibility of
providing service to rural areas of
Southwest Colorado, as the cost of run-
ning electrical lines outside of an “urban
hub” was simply not profitable for what
eventually became the Western Colorado
Power Company or the Western Slope’s
own “grid.” And it was prohibitively
expensive (in the $2,000 range) for rural
families to fund their own lines. 

This scenario had been repeated, in
essence, throughout the country. Thus,
in 1936, President Franklin Delano
Roosevelt signed a bill to establish the
Rural Electrification Administration
(REA) as a lending agency to help rural
areas come literally out of the dark.
Rural citizens in La Plata County took
advantage of the new REA structure
and, following several years of work and
organization, established the coopera-
tive that we now know as La Plata
Electric Association, Inc. 

By definition, an electric cooperative
is a non-profit organization owned by
its members, and tasked with the deliv-
ery of electricity to those members. Any

profits are either reinvested for infra-
structure or distributed to members in
the form of “capital credits” – essential-
ly dividends paid on a member’s invest-
ment in the cooperative.

The first meeting of the cooperative
organized to illuminate the rural areas of
La Plata and Archuleta counties, and
ultimately parts of Hinsdale and Mineral
counties, was held August 22, 1939, and
called to order at 8 p.m. at 854 Main
Avenue in Durango, following a full
work day on the farm or ranch by many
of the founders. The original certificate
of incorporation had been filed with the
Secretary of State on August 16, 1939. 

On hand that fateful night was W.E.
Tyner, the incorporating director select-
ed as chairman. Additional incorporat-
ing directors were J. Fred Hill, Frank
Gray, Edna M. Coppuck, J.H. Durry,
James F. Gore, George Morgan, E.E.
Hively, Betty Stock and Mildred Laurie.

According to the detailed minutes of
the meeting, preserved in LPEA’s
archives, these rural citizens began the
long process of establishing the basis for
running the electric cooperative. This
involved the details of membership,
which initially was a $5 fee, although if
a member requested more than one
service connection, additional fees
could be assessed. Agreeing to join the
cooperative required that members pur-
chase all their electricity from LPEA.

In later months, the incorporating
directors deliberated on a site for the first
headquarters – primarily a centralized
construction office – and eventually
selected Ignacio. LPEA entered into an
Installation Loan Contract with the REA
to fund construction of the system on
August 10, 1940, and by the following
February, the lines were energized and
life was changed forever for rural families.

The first LPEA Annual Meeting was
held September 2, 1941, at 813 Main
Ave., which some will remember as the
Kiva Theater, and “interesting” statistics
(or so the minutes report) noted that
the company was valued at $169,539.10
and enjoyed 348 members, who had an
average consumption of $3.74 worth of
electricity, distributed over 190 miles of
line. La Plata Electric purchased that
electric power from the Western
Colorado Power Company, and did so
until the fall of 1959. 
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La Plata Electric Ass’n.:
70 Years of “Power”

BY INDIANA REED

I n the 1930s the Durango
Public Library sponsored
two National Youth

Administration (NYA) “handicraft”
projects. As part of the Works Progress
Administration, the NYA employed
youths between the ages of 16 and 25.

Under the supervision of Helen
Sloan Daniels, work began in April
1936 and was completed in 1940. Over
the five-year period, the projects
employed 36 boys and 18 girls who had
dropped out of school, were unable to
find work, or had families that could
not support them. They worked an
average of 50 hours a month, for 37 to
44 cents per hour. Beyond their earn-
ings, the NYA library projects gave
them an education and self-respect and
filled community needs. 

In November 1937, 15 girls began
work in the children’s department,
which desperately needed new materials
and programs. They made dolls, casting
plaster bodies or carving them out of
wood, then sewed the dolls’ clothing.
Area residents often visited the library to
view the girls’ craft displays. The young
women also wrote and performed plays
for children at the library or local
schools. The girls were in charge of all
aspects of production, including making
marionettes, painting scenery and
designing costumes. By the end of the
project, more than a thousand area resi-
dents attended their productions.

NYA youth also worked on an
archaeology project under the direction
of Daniels and I. F. “Zeke” Flora, both
members of the San Juan Archaeology
Society. Daniels and Flora volunteered
their time on the project, which resulted

in some of Durango’s first public dis-
plays of material representing Pueblo,
Ute, Navajo, and Apache cultures.
Durango had no museum at the time,
so the first major task was to clean the
basement of the library for exhibit
space. The earliest displays featured
objects recovered by the NYA project
and local donations to the collection.

The NYA participants worked spring
and summer months at Falls Creek,
located above the Animas Valley. The
young men dug trenches and removed
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Youth Program
Focused on Library

BY BOBBIE HAMILTON

I

Born December 21, 1899, in
Durango, Helen Sloan Daniels was
the granddaughter of San Juan
Basin pioneer Robert E. Sloan.
After graduating from Durango
High School in 1916, she attended
the University of Colorado where
she received a degree in English lit-
erature. She spent time teaching in
local schools but dedicated much of
her life to the study of archaeology
and local indigenous cultures like
the Ute, Navajo and Apache. In
1936 she was appointed to the
board of directors of the Durango
Public Library, following a family
tradition started by her grandfather,
who helped establish the library in
1906. She received many honors
during her life and was an active
member of the Sarah Platt Decker
chapter of the Daughters of the

American Revolution, the
Reading Club of Durango,
and chapter BR of PEO.
Her legacy includes valu-
able collections that can be
found at the Animas
Museum, Durango Public
Library, Fort Lewis College,
and Mesa Verde National
Park. In this photo, Daniels
is seen with a display case
of Pueblo pottery and other
objects in the original
Durango Public Library on
12th Street and 2nd
Avenue.   

HHEELLEENN SSLLOOAANN DDAANNIIEELLSS

Courtesy FLC Center of Southwest Studies.

Please turn to page 23 kk

18 Town Plaza       970.247.0526

Congratulates and Salutes 
the Kroeger Family 

and the D&SNG Railroad 
for the dedication 

and commitment to our 
beloved community!

Congratulates and Salutes 
the Short Family 

and Cy Scarborough 
& the Bar D Chuckwagon 

for their dedication 
and commitment 

to our beloved community!

Durango resident Clayton Clark Perkins and two friends prepare to make
camp somewhere in northern New Mexico's high desert about 1910.

Please turn to page 20 kk
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e may not ride horses much any more, and he
may not be singing at the Bar D Chuckwagon,
but there’s no doubting that Cy Scarborough is

and always will be a cowboy, through and through.
Tourists who’ve never seen a cowboy will continue to

flock around him every night from Memorial Day to
Labor Day. “Are you really a cowboy?” they’ll ask, as
cameras click and flash.

Defining a cowboy is a lot more complicated than
those tourists might imagine. Is it their clothing, or the
fact that they can ride a horse? Is it the songs they sing,
the instruments they play or the food they serve? Is it that
they’ve herded cattle, or ridden a bucking horse or bull?

The real measure of the Bar D’s authenticity is their
sizable local following. When the 2002 Missionary
Ridge fire curtailed tourism, local patrons kept the Bar
D going. Some risked their lives to fight the flames that
threatened to destroy the chuckwagon, and celebrated
its survival with dinner and a show through the rest of
the summer. Those diehard fans, who return multiple
times every season, year after year, will tell you quite
simply, these guys are the real deal.

“I don’t rope and ride any more, but I’ve always
been a cowboy,” Cy says, recalling his Arkansas
childhood on his family’s farm. He’s always had
a horse, rode one to school as a boy and has
herded cattle. And he’s always been fond of
cowboy music, ever since his parents gave
him his first Lone Ranger guitar at the age
of six or so.

Cy and his partners at the Bar D are
cowboys, for sure. But they’re also savvy
business owners and entertainers. It’s a com-
bination that Cy has honed in the chuckwagon
business over the past five decades-plus.

He started out at the Flying W Chuckwagon in
Colorado Springs, when the founder recruited Cy’s
dance band to entertain. At first, all of them kept their
day jobs – Cy was a machinist, making aircraft parts –
but as business improved, he became a full-time singing
cowboy. Eventually, he managed the Flying W, and the
lessons he learned laid the foundation for the Bar D.

Cy, Buck Teeter and Jim Blanton toured the state in
their spare time, looking for a place to start their own
chuckwagon. They liked the Durango area because it shared
a lot of characteristics with Colorado Springs: tourists’ aver-
age length of stay, attractions in the area, accommoda-
tions and climate.

“We wanted everything on our side that we
could get,” Cy recalled. So they scoured the
Animas Valley, looking for just the right place.
The red cliffs of Missionary Ridge were the per-
fect backdrop, especially with the setting sun
illuminating the area. 

In 1969, they contacted Delmas “Bill”
Dalton, whose large ranch included the perfect
area for their business. Folks warned them he
wouldn’t be interested in selling, but they went
anyway, taking along a recording of their music.
Dalton’s wife Leota said her husband was fond of
cowboy music, and suggested they come back the
next day.

He listened, and they came back. “We told him

there would be no alcohol served, and we’d have real
family entertainment,” Cy said, recalling how enthusias-
tic Dalton quickly became. “He told us he would do
anything to help us.”

Dalton agreed to sell Cy and his partners ten acres of
land for $400 an acre with no money down.

Dalton’s attorney called his client a “damn fool”
for making such a shaky deal, but he couldn’t
be dissuaded. “He was a real cowboy,” Cy
says, adding that Dalton frequented the
chuckwagon as their guest many times.

The name of their business is a subtle
tribute to Dalton’s belief in them. His ranch

was the Spike D, which Cy notes is quite sim-
ilar to Bar D, a brand that had been registered

in Colorado and abandoned years before. The fact
that “D” could also stand for Durango made it all the
better.

Cy and his partners started out with three parts to
the business: the dinner and show, managed by Cy; a
riding stable run by Blanton; and an art gallery featur-
ing Teeter’s paintings. Over the years, Cy’s original part-
ners moved on or retired. Bob Minser, a former mem-
ber of Sons of the Pioneers and consummate yodeler,
and Terry Morris, a fiddler, came after Blanton left.
Jerry Baxter lent his deep base voice to the Wranglers
for many years. Gary Cook has been there 21 years

now. And when he first met Matt Palmer as an 11-year-
old playing fiddle in his family troupe, Cy vowed that
he would make him a Bar D Wrangler one day – and he
did. Newest to the Wranglers are Joel Racheff and Levi
Mullen. Cy’s son Rick is a less visible partner, managing
the kitchen that turns out the authentic barbecued meat
with beans and all the trimmings. Cy’s wife Jeanne is an
important part of the operation, too, cheerfully taking
reservations and handing out tickets every night.

With the Wranglers’ mixture of ongoing and new tal-
ent firmly established, Cy says it’s time to retire. He can
“still talk loud and tell a story,” but his singing voice isn’t
what it used to be. And he’s old enough, at 82, to light-
en his workload a bit. In 40 years, he points out, he’s

missed only two days – for gallbladder surgery.
Does that mean he might retire completely from

the Bar D some day? 
“That’s when people die,” he says with his distinct

Arkansas twang. “I can’t see myself doing that.”
When told he would receive the 2009 Community

Heritage Award, he said, “It’s important to know some-
body feels this way, that we maybe have helped the

community to grow. The community has been such
a support to us.”

Delmas Dalton saw in the Bar D founders the
promise of preserving a way of life he cherished. It is
a promise the chuckwagon fulfills every night all

summer, and at countless community events through
the year. Visitors and locals alike continue to experi-
ence cowboy traditions in food, song and comedy,
thanks to Cy Scarborough and the Bar D. ◆
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VISIT ANY OF OUR CONVENIENT LOCATIONS: MAIN OFFICE, BAYFIELD, WAL-MART, ALBERTSONS,
MORTGAGE DEPARTMENT, AND 11 CONVENIENT ATM SITES. (see website for a complete list)

WWW.FNBDURANGO.COM • 247-3020 IN DURANGO • 884-5300 IN BAYFIELD

Local Leadership
• First National is still guided by a local Board of Directors made up of

business professionals.
• Steve Short, President of First National, was born and raised in La Plata

County and has been with First National for over 25 years.

Service To Our Community
   • Our service to the community began with A.P. Camp in the 1880’s

when he served as City Treasurer and as a School Board Member.
   • Today, First National Bank employees serve on City Council, non-profit

boards and donate thousands of volunteer hours to countless
organizations.

Congratulations,
Community Heritage

Award Winners!

At First National Bank of Durango
Committed To Our Community Since 1882
is more than a saying, it’s a way of life.

At First National Bank of Durango, we are more than just a bank, we’re a friend
and trusted resource to the people who live and work in our community, helping

them fulfill their financial dreams and enriching the lives of those we touch!

●

Community

Heritage 

Award

Once a Cowboy, Always a Cowboy
BY ELIZABETH A. GREEN

H Left: The original 1969 Bar D Wranglers included Buck
Teeter on bass, “Little Jim” Blanton on guitar, Cy
Scarborough on guitar, and Jim Blanton on fiddle.

Below: By 1988, the Wranglers included Bob Minser, Cy
Scarborough, Jerry Baxter and Gary Cook.

Bottom: Today’s Wranglers are Matt Palmer, Levi Mullen, Cy
Scarborough, Gary Cook and Joel Racheff.

Courtesy Bar D Chuckwagon

Courtesy Bar D Chuckwagon
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lmost any Saturday from spring until fall,
area residents can be found shopping for an
array of fresh produce and locally grown

products at the local farmer’s market in the First
National Bank parking lot. What few of the shoppers
realize is that bank president Steve Short has helped to
sponsor this market because of his own family heritage
in farming and ranching. In fact, his family represents a
long tradition in our area’s agriculture, business, and
community.

Beginning with family patriarch William Alva Short,
the family has been continuously engaged in ranching
and in growing things since 1902. Taking up a home-
stead on the Florida Mesa, Alva and his wife, Belle
Wilson, started a family and a set of agricultural and
community traditions that reach forward to today. They
arrived at their Sunnyside Ranch as a new couple with “a
three-gallon water bucket, one wash tub, a wash pan,
and a few pots and pans.” For a fee of $222, the couple
proved up on 320 homestead acres and began a com-
bined farming, ranching and animal husbandry opera-
tion that today is still manifest in the Sunnyside Meat
Market – a business owned and operated by a Short
family descendant.

The connection between ranch and more urbane busi-
ness endeavors is a theme in the Short legacy. Alva’s broth-
er operated a Durango café known as the New Deal at the
same time Alva and Belle were building their homestead.
When the brother died, Alva became both farmer and
restaurateur. Cross-over enterprise followed both Alva and
his progeny as he served variously as a miner, smelter
hand, and foundry worker. Town jobs gave him
the resources to develop his land and Belle, a
pioneer lady of grit, did much of the ranch
and farm work while Alva earned the cash.
Belle was adept at bargaining for the ranch’s
produce, showing a high level of business
skill as well as farm savvy. Even the nearby
Southern Utes found Belle an honest and
charming trading partner. The couple were
among the first Ute Strip settlers to develop a
positive relationship with their Native American
neighbors – a relationship that continues to the present.
As a rancher with a long view and a town connection,
Alva even borrowed $4,000 at the bottom of the Great
Depression to purchase modern farming equipment – a
step that was both risky and cutting-edge, especially in
an economic crisis. Later, sons Merl and Vern would
assume ownership of a farm implement business in
Durango and share in the cross-over between farming
and town-based businesses. 

But the family hasn’t focused on just enterprise. From
their first days on the Florida, Alva and Belle set a pattern
of community involvement that also extends to the pres-
ent. Alva founded the Sunnyside school district and
served as its first school board president. Today’s
Sunnyside Elementary School is the literal descendant of
the school that Alva created. His own children all attend-
ed the old country school of the beginning, and later his
grandchildren went to the new 9R school of today.

Life has always been more than work or learning for
the Shorts. From the beginning, Alva and his family

appreciated being part of a shared community, and that
led them to take the lead in forming the Eureka Grange.
As community agricultural cooperatives, granges served as
a way for producers to collectively leverage their selling

and purchasing power – giving rural people access to a
more urbane business model that allowed them to

negotiate better rates with buyers and shippers.
Short was so committed to the concept that
he and Belle actually took out a hefty mort-
gage to get the Grange Hall built. They
managed to pay off the debt in less than
three years and gave the growing Sunnyside
community a permanent meeting place. Even

today, the Eureka Grange Hall serves as a com-
munity food bank.
But it was more than that. The Eureka Grange

took on a big social role, as a community center for every-
thing from stage plays to social soirees. For those who
grew up in the area, and for more than 50 years, the
Eureka Grange hosted a community dance nearly every
Saturday night. Those dances became the weekly event.
Like many other married couples who got their first intro-
ductions on that dance floor, Merl Short met his future
wife there.

Alva and Belle had 12 children and their families creat-
ed new connections throughout the region. Short progeny
became ranchers, merchants and community leaders.
After World War II – when almost all of the Short broth-
ers left for military service – the brothers eventually
returned to the area and all of them ended up living in
close proximity to Alva and Belle’s original homestead at
Sunnyside. One granddaughter, Karen Short Zink,
became an integral part of the area’s medical community,
creating her own medical practice and also coordinating
the area’s participation in statewide health fairs where lit-
erally thousands of the region’s residents get access to no-

cost and low-cost health screening services. Grandson
Steve has been a banking and community leader with
First National Bank of Durango for almost 30 years.
Among the next generation, one family member is a part-
ner in Sunnyside Market.

The Short family’s long legacy spans more than a cen-
tury in Southwest Colorado. It is the story of a family
whose low-key temperaments and can-do spirits have left

enduring personal and community
legacies. When Alva first saw the
Sunnyside area, he saw a challenging
landscape that could only be made
habitable by hard work. But in his
memoirs, he said “what others were
doing, I at least could try.”  

He and his family have done more
than try. Their hard work, dedication,
and willingness to take on tough jobs
that others sometimes shirk allowed
them to grow and prosper where
many others failed. In a tough eco-
nomic and social time, the Short
family provides a model for taking
the long view and embracing effort
over despair – and doing it with a
sense of joy in simple and shared
pleasures. 

That lesson from this pioneer family shows that it is
possible for “Short” to actually be “Long.” ◆

Bruce Spining’s family also were Florida Mesa pioneers,
sharing with the Shorts the hardships and joys of developing a
homestead in the Ute Strip. He is a member of the La Plata
County Historical Society board of directors.  

La Plata County is home to many small cemeteries
created in the days before cars, when transportation by
horse-drawn wagon or carriage necessitated “burial
grounds” close to home. This spring, the La Plata
County Historical Society will be hosting tours of two
such cemeteries – Florida Cemetery and Hermosa
Cemetery – to honor the lives of pioneers in the Florida
River area and the Animas Valley.

Hermosa Cemetery, located just north of Honeyville,
is the final resting place for more than 200 pioneers of
that area. The oldest headstone, that of Civil War veteran
John Hammer, dates to 1899. Also buried in the ceme-
tery are the Gaines family, who arrived in the Animas
Valley in 1875. Indian troubles were on the rise at that
time, and Dick Gaines built a sod fortress on his ranch

to fend off an attack. Perhaps the most famous burial in
Hermosa Cemetery is that of Sarah Chivington Girardin.
She was probably the first woman settler in the area,
arriving as a bride with her first husband in 1860. A
family story states that she was held hostage by the Utes
while her husband, Tom Pollock, was away getting sup-
plies. Just four years later, her father led the massacre at
Sand Creek against the Cheyennes and Arapahoes.

The Hermosa tour will be held Saturday, June 13 at
10 a.m., and will include light refreshments. 

Florida Cemetery is located a few miles northeast of
Elmore’s Corner and has about 600 pioneer burials. The
earliest headstone, dating to 1881, is that of a woman
who came to the Florida Mesa in her 70s to join her two
pioneer sons. Her son, Tim McCluer, was one of the orig-

inal three settlers in the Florida River valley. McCluer and
others carefully negotiated an agreement with Ute Chief
Ignacio that prevented Ute attacks on the white settlers.
Many years later, Ignacio attended McCluer’s funeral.

The Florida Cemetery tour will be held at 10 a.m.,
Saturday, May 16. The event will begin in the 1912
Florida Baptist Church on the cemetery grounds, and will
include a special tribute to the Alva Short family, Florida
Mesa pioneers. The Florida Cemetery tour is part of this
year’s Community Heritage Award events sponsored by
the historical society and will include a light lunch.

Tickets, which are $10 for each event, are limited
and are available at the Animas Museum. Call 259-2402
for reservations.

––  KKaatthhyy  SSzzeellaagg

There’s still time to book your tickets for the May 20th

Community Heritage Awards dinner being held at the Bar
D Chuckwagon. This year’s event honors the Bar D’s very
own Cy Scarborough who founded the chuckwagon more
than 40 years ago and the Alva Short Family/descendants
who were homesteaders in La Plata County well over a cen-
tury ago. Both of these honorees have helped our commu-
nity retain our proud western heritage, and now it’s your
turn to put on your western duds, lasso a friend and join
the fun! It’s sure to be a hootin‘-n-hollerin‘ good time!

The evening’s fun starts at 5:30 p.m. There will
be live music with the Bar D Wranglers, shopping,
silent auction and free mini train rides – but be pre-
pared: the Durango Kid and his posse of Animas
Museum Banditos are planning a hold-up of the
train with the loot benefiting the Animas Museum.

The chuckwagon dinner will be served promptly
at 7:30 p.m., followed by a brief awards presentation
and a special show by the Bar D Wranglers roasting
our honorees.

Call the Animas Museum at 259-2402 to book your
tickets before May 13. Tickets are $30 each. Seat assign-
ments will be made according to the time of paid reserva-
tion. Preferential seating will be given to full table reserva-
tions of 10 (outside rows) & 12 (inside rows). One hun-
dred percent of the profits benefit the La Plata County
Historical Society and the Animas Museum.

Special thanks to our sponsors: First National
Bank of Durango, Durango & Silverton Narrow
Gauge Railroad, La Plata Electric Association,
Southwest Colorado Federal Credit Union, and Pine
River Valley Bank.

This year’s Community Heritage Award commit-
tee includes Kristi Nelson Cohen (chair), Nancy
Macho, Kathy Szelag, Bruce Spining, Beth Green
and Bobbie Hamilton.

FFIIDDDDLLEESS,,  VVIITTTTLLEESS AANNDD FFUUNN AATT TTHHIISS
YYEEAARR’’SS CCOOMMMMUUNNIITTYY HHEERRIITTAAGGEE AAWWAARRDDSS

MMAAYY 2200,,  55::3300  PP..MM.. ,,  BBAARR DD  CCHHUUCCKKWWAAGGOONN

CCAALLLL 225599--22440022  TTOO MMAAKKEE YYOOUURR AADDVVAANNCCEE

RREESSEERRVVAATTIIOONN!!
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Short Family Has Long History
BY BRUCE SPINING

A

At left: Alva & Belle
Short (far right and
left, respectively) are
shown in their yard
with children Mary,
Eunice, Lester,
Harold, Oran, Buster,
Toots, Wayne, Vern
and Merl. Only Neil
and Lyle are missing
from the photo.

Below left: Five broth-
ers: Vern, Merl,
Lester, and Wayne
Short pose with their
dad’s Dodge
“Commercial” vehicle
in the early 1920s.
Neil Short is standing
by the windmill.

CCEELLEEBBRRAATTIINNGG OOUURR PPIIOONNEEEERR PPAASSTT WWIITTHH UUPPCCOOMMIINNGG FFLLOORRIIDDAA AANNDD HHEERRMMOOSSAA CCEEMMEETTEERRYY TTOOUURRSS

Courtesy of the Short family

Alva & Belle Short celebrate their 50th wedding anniversary on
April 2, 1955.

Courtesy of the Short family

Courtesy of the Short family
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